2009

John D. Archer v. April Gaultney : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

I. JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102. This action comes to the Utah Supreme Court from the summary judgment granted to Defendants Brown's Crew Car of Wyoming, Inc. d/b/a Armadillo Express and Union Pacific Railroad Company and the motion to reconsider denied to Plaintiff John D. Archer, both by the Honorable Judith S.H. Atherton of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

A. Whether Appellees Armadillo and/or Union Pacific owed a duty to Appellant Archer to provide transportation equipped with rear seat head restraints (seat head rests).

Standard of Review: The Supreme Court reviews the District Court's grant of summary judgment for correctness. *Davis County Solid Waste Management v. City of Bountiful*, 52 P.3d 1174, 1176 (Utah 2002). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the appellate court gives the trial court's legal decisions no deference, reviewing for correctness. *Kearns-Tribune Corp. v. Salt Lake County Commission*, 2001 UT 55, 28 P.3d 686, 688 (Utah 2001).

B. Whether a rear seat head restraint is a safety device which, like other safety devices, is needed for a reasonably safe workplace.

Standard of Review: The Supreme Court reviews the District Court's grant of summary judgment for correctness. *Davis County Solid Waste Management v. City of Bountiful*, 52 P.3d 1174, 1176 (Utah 2002). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment,

the appellate court gives the trial court's legal decisions no deference, reviewing for correctness. *Kearns-Tribune Corp. v. Salt Lake County Commission*, 2001 UT 55, 28 P.3d 686, 688 (Utah 2001).

C. Whether Appellant's Federal Employers' Liability Act (FELA), 45 U.S.C. § 51 *et seq.* claims that Appellees Armadillo and/or Union Pacific should have transported Appellant in one of the many Armadillo vans already equipped with rear seat head restraints, is preempted by federal regulations for automobile manufacturers which make rear seat head restraints optional.

Standard of Review: The Supreme Court reviews the District Court's grant of summary judgment for correctness. *Davis County Solid Waste Management v. City of Bountiful*, 52 P.3d 1174, 1176 (Utah 2002). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the appellate court gives the trial court's legal decisions no deference, reviewing for correctness. *Kearns-Tribune Corp. v. Salt Lake County Commission*, 2001 UT 55, 28 P.3d 686, 688 (Utah 2001).

D. Whether orthopedic and spine surgeons have the medical expertise to render medical causation opinions regarding the injuries caused by the failure to provide rear seat head restraints in the vehicle transporting Appellant which was involved in a rear end collision.

Standard of Review: The Supreme Court reviews the District Court's grant of summary judgment for correctness. *Davis County Solid Waste Management v. City of Bountiful*, 52 P.3d 1174, 1176 (Utah 2002). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment,

the appellate court gives the trial court's legal decisions no deference, reviewing for correctness. *Kearns-Tribune Corp. v. Salt Lake County Commission*, 2001 UT 55, 28 P.3d 686, 688 (Utah 2001).

III. STATUTES, RULES, AND REGULATIONS

Utah Court Rules

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 56. Summary Judgment.

(b) For defending party. A party against whom a claim, counterclaim, or cross-claim is asserted or a declaratory judgment is sought, may, at any time, move for summary judgment as to all or any part thereof.

(c) Motion and proceedings thereon. The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be in accordance with Rule 7. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

Utah Rules of Evidence Rule 702. Testimony of Experts.

(a) Subject to the limitations in subsection (b), if scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness is qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Federal Statutes

The Federal Employers' Liability Act (FELA), 45 U.S.C. § 51 et seq.

Every common carrier by railroad while engaging in commerce between any of the several states . . . shall be liable in damages to any person suffering injury while he is employed by such carrier in such commerce . . . for such injury resulting in whole or in part from the negligence of any of the officers, agents, or employees or such carrier, or by reason of any defect or

insufficiency, due to its negligence, in its cars, engines, appliances, machinery track, road bed, works, boats, wharfs, or other equipment.

Federal Automobile Manufacturer Regulations

The Motor Vehicle Safety Act (MVSA), 49 U.S.C. § 30101. Purpose and policy.

The purpose of this chapter is to reduce traffic accidents and deaths and injuries resulting from traffic accidents. Therefore it is necessary –

- (1) to prescribe motor vehicle safety standards for motor vehicles and motor vehicle equipment in interstate commerce; and
- (2) to carry out needed safety research and development.

The Motor Vehicle Safety Act (MVSA), 49 U.S.C. § 30103. Relationship to other laws.

(a) Uniformity of regulations. – The Secretary of Transportation may not prescribe a safety regulation related to a motor vehicle subject to subchapter I of chapter 135 of this title that differs from a motor vehicle safety standard prescribed under this chapter. However, the Secretary may prescribe, for a motor vehicle operated by a carrier subject to subchapter I of chapter 135, a safety regulation that imposes a higher standard of performance after manufacture than that required by an applicable standard in effect at the time of manufacture.

(b) Preemption. – **(1)** When a motor vehicle safety standard is in effect under this chapter, a State or a political subdivision of a State may prescribe or continue in effect a standard applicable to the same aspect of performance of a motor vehicle or motor vehicle equipment only if the standard is identical to the standard prescribed under this chapter. However, the United States Government, a State, or a political subdivision of a State may prescribe a standard for a motor vehicle or motor vehicle equipment obtained for its own use that imposes a higher performance requirement than that required by the otherwise applicable standard under this chapter.

(e) Common law liability. – Compliance with a motor vehicle safety standard prescribed under this chapter does not exempt a person from liability at common law.

The Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards (FMVSS), 49 C.F.R. § 571.202 Standard No. 202; Head restraints; Applicable at the manufacturers option until September 1, 2009

S1. Purpose and scope. This standard specifies requirements for head restraints to reduce the frequency and severity of neck injury in rear-end and other collisions.

S2. Application. This standard applies to passenger cars, and to multipurpose passenger vehicles, trucks and buses with a GVWR of 4,536 kg or less, manufactured before September 1, 2009. Until September 1, 2009, manufacturers may comply with the standard in this § 571.202, with the European regulations referenced in S4.3 of this § 571.202, or with the standard in § 571.202a. For vehicles manufactured on or after September 1, 2009 and before September 1, 2010, manufacturers may comply with the standard in this § 571.202 or with the European regulations referenced in S4.3 of this § 571.202, instead of the standard in § 571.202a, only to the extent consistent with the phase-in specified in § 571.202a.

The Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards (FMVSS), 49 C.F.R. § 571.202a Standard No. 202a; Head restraints; Mandatory applicability begins on September 1, 2009

S1. Purpose and scope. This standard specifies requirements for head restraints to reduce the frequency and severity of neck injury in rear-end and other collisions.

S2. Application & incorporation by reference.

S2.1 Application. This standard applies to passenger cars, and to multipurpose passenger vehicles, trucks and buses with a GVWR of 4,536 kg or less, manufactured on or after September 1, 2009. However, the standard's requirements for rear head restraints do not apply to vehicles manufactured before September 1, 2010, and, for vehicles manufactured between September 1, 2010 and August 31, 2011, the requirements for rear head restraints apply only to the extent provided in S7. Until September 1, 2009, manufacturers may comply with the standard in this § 571.202a, with the standard in § 571.202, or with the European regulations referenced in S4.3(a) of § 571.202. For vehicles manufactured on or after September 1, 2009 and before September 1, 2010, manufacturers may comply with the standard in § 571.202 or with the European regulations referenced in S4.3(a) of § 571.202, instead of the standard in this § 571.202a, only to the extent consistent with the phase-in specified in this § 571.202a.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

Archer commenced this lawsuit against Appellees under the Federal Employers' Liability Act (FELA), 45 U.S.C. § 51 *et seq.*, for neck and shoulder injuries caused by a rear-end motor vehicle collision occurring on September 26, 2004, while being transported by Armadillo in the course of his employment with UP.

B. Course of Proceedings.

UP and Armadillo filed a motion for summary judgment on April 3, 2008. Archer filed a motion for reconsideration on October 3, 2008.

C. Disposition in the Court Below.

On December 11, 2008, the Honorable Judith S.H. Atherton of the Third District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, granted Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and denied Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider.

D. Statement of Relevant Facts.

The Motor Vehicle Collision

1. On September 26, 2004, Archer, in the course and scope of his employment with UP, was being transported in a Chevrolet van owned and operated by Brown's Crew Car of Wyoming, Inc. (Armadillo), without the protection of a rear seat head restraint. *R.* 589.

2. On September 26, 2004, April Gaultney rear ended the Armadillo van in which Archer was a passenger. *R.* 589 and 615-616.

3. On June 8, 2006, Archer commenced this lawsuit against UP under the Federal Employers' Liability Act (FELA), 45 U.S.C. § 51 *et seq.*, and negligence claims against Armadillo and April Gaultney, for neck and shoulder injuries caused by the rear-end motor vehicle collision occurring on September 26, 2004. *R. 2-12.*

The UP/Armadillo Contract

4. Effective at the time of the September 26, 2004 incident, Union Pacific Railroad Company (UP) contracted with Armadillo to provide on-the-job transportation for Archer and other train crew members. *R. 203-235.*

5. The contract gave UP the right to specify the safety equipment on Armadillo's vehicles. *R. 230.* UP required the following transportation and safety equipment in Armadillo's vans, prior to the September 26, 2004 incident:

WHEREAS, Company wishes to perform transportation services for Union Pacific Railroad Company and affiliated companies, hereinafter referred to as Railroad...

Section 18. VEHICLE CONDITION, EQUIPMENT AND SAFETY ITEMS

Vehicles used to transport Railroad employees must be capable of transporting seven (7) passengers and their luggage in an efficient and comfortable manner. Vehicles will be required to have a cage or netting between the rear seat and the back doors to provide luggage storage space during transit. All vehicles used in these services must be no more than three years old, in good mechanical condition and must be equipped with the following equipment:

- (a) Air conditioner
- (b) Heater
- (c) Operable safety belts for all passengers
- (d) Properly equipped First Aid Kit
- (e) Operable and inspected 2.5lb. (ABC) fire extinguisher

- (f) Road flares
- (g) Spare tire
- (h) Jack and tools
- (i) Reflective striping
- (j) All mechanical items on the vehicle in good working order, with special attention paid to tires, brakes, and lights
- (k) Back up alarm devices, whether mechanical or electrical, where not specifically prohibited by law.

R. 226 and 230.

6. UP's list of safety equipment for Armadillo vehicles did not include seat head restraints. *R. 230.*

Reasonably Safe Workplace

7. UP admits that it is responsible to provide a reasonably safe workplace and that at the time of Archer's injuries on September 26, 2004, the Armadillo van was Archer's workplace. *R. 892.*

8. UP admits that it is responsible for identifying and reducing reasonably foreseeable hazards in the workplace. *R. 893.*

9. UP admits that rear-end collisions are reasonably foreseeable hazards in the workplace, that it knew before Archer's injury on September 26, 2004, that seat head restraints were important safety devices that reduce the risk of neck injuries in rear end collisions, and that it was safer to have vehicles with rear seat head restraints. *Id.*

10. UP admits that before Archer's September 26, 2004 collision and injuries, it could have required Armadillo to use vehicles with rear seat head restraints. *Id.*

11. Armadillo admits that had it known before Archer's September 26, 2004 injury that seat head restraints reduced the risk of neck injuries then it should have used vehicles with rear seat head restraints for transporting UP passengers. *Id.*

Armadillo Had Vehicles With Rear Seat Head Restraints

12. Armadillo admits that before Archer's September 26, 2004 injury, Armadillo had transported UP crew members in vehicles with rear seat head restraints. *Id.*

13. Armadillo admits that the center seats of its vehicles did not have head restraints and some railroad location passengers were restricted from using the center seats. *R. 894.*

14. Before Archer's September 26, 2004 injury, one third of Armadillo's 200 vehicle fleet had rear seat head restraints. *Id.*

15. Armadillo's fleet had Chevy Suburban vehicles with the capacity to transport up to five passengers with seat head restraints. *Id.*

Armadillo is an Agent of UP

16. Armadillo admits it is a common carrier. *Id.*

17. On June 6, 2007, the district court ruled that for purposes of this case, Armadillo was an agent of UP on September 26, 2004, with respect to Archer's injuries. *R. 346-348; R. 894; and R. 1273-1274.*

18. On June 6, 2007, the district court ruled that Armadillo was performing an operational activity of UP in transporting Archer on September 26, 2004. *R. 346-348; R. 894 and R. 1273-1274.*

NHSTA Reports

19. The National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHSTA) reported that there are approximately 272,464 whip lash injuries annually, of which 21,429 involve rear outboard seated passengers. *R. 894.*

20. The NHSTA reported that “[f]ewer rear seat occupants are exposed to risk in rear impacts because rear seats are much less likely to be occupied than front seats.” *Id.*

UP’s Safety Rules

21. UP extensively publishes safety rules governing its employees, such as Archer, in detailed fashion, and UP could have promulgated a safety rule requiring its employees to adjust and use seat head restraints when transported in vans. *R. 896.*

22. UP could require its employees to properly adjust the rear seat head restraints by safety rule and contract, and require the driver to supervise this adjustment. *R. 894.*

23. In 1990, UP’s safety committee reported that numerous accidents and injuries were associated with transporting its crews. *R. 895.*

24. Prior to the September 26, 2004 incident, UP prevented crew haulers from backing up vans when UP employees were in the vehicle. *Id.*

25. Armadillo stated that if UP gave Armadillo enough lead time, it could have used vehicles with head restraints for the outboard passengers. *Id.*

Archer Did Not Have a Seat Head Restraint

26. On September 26, 2004, the Armadillo van was full of passengers, and Archer could not sit in a seat with a head restraint while being transported in the course and scope of his employment with UP. *R. 895.*

27. If the Armadillo van transporting Archer at the time of his injury had had a seat head restraint for him to use, he would have leaned back in the seat and looked forward, with his arms down. *Id.*

28. Before the September 26, 2004 collision, it was Archer's custom to adjust seat head restraints and he would have followed any safety rule promulgated by UP requiring such adjustments. *R. 896.*

Archer's Injury

29. Archer's mechanism of injury was hyper-extension of a neck with stenosis, causing bruising of the spinal cord, resulting in a hollow spot inside the cord. *Id.*

30. According to the NHSTA Report, Archer's biomechanical expert, Paul France, PhD., and UP, before Archer's September 26, 2004 injury, it was common knowledge that seat head restraints prevent or reduce neck injuries from rear end collisions. *Id.*

31. According to Kade Huntsman, M.D., Archer's treating physician and orthopedic surgeon specializing in spine surgery, if a seat head restraint had been

provided to Archer on September 26, 2004, it is unlikely that Archer would have suffered significant injuries because the head restraint would have prevented hyper-extension of the neck, which with stenosis, caused the spinal cord injury. *Id.*

32. According to Dr. France, in rear-end collision accidents of the magnitude of the September 26, 2004 Armadillo van collision (the collision accelerated the van an additional 6 or 7 M.P.H.), with seat head restraints for rear seated passengers, it is unlikely that a spinal cord injury would occur to the general population of passengers. *R. 896-897.*

33. According to Dr. Huntsman and Dr. France, the *Spine* articles Traumatic Myopathy in Patients With Cervical Spinal Stenosis Without Fracture or Dislocation and A Review of the Pathophysiology of Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy With Insights for Potential Novel Mechanisms Drawn From Traumatic Spinal Cord Injury – attached to Dr. France's Report, express the mechanism of Archer's injury. *R. 897, R. 1201-1202 and R. 1349-1380.*

34. According to Dr. France, there is no difference in risk of neck injury, everything else being equal, to a rear seated adult passenger compared to a front seated adult passenger. *R. 897.*

35. According to Dr. France, the purpose of the Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards (FMVSS), with respect to seat head restraints, is not frustrated by installation of optional rear seat head restraints, because the purpose of the FMVSS is to reduce the number and severity of neck injuries, which is achieved with rear seat head restraints. *Id.*

36. Some of the Armadillo vehicles came from the manufacturer with rear seat head restraints. *Id.*

Medical Causation

37. Dr. Huntsman, Archer's treating physician and orthopedic surgeon specializing in spine surgery, stated the following:

That based upon my education and training as a physician, my physical examinations of Archer, my review of the radiological films, including X-ray and MRI, and the surgery I performed upon Archer on December 15, 2004, I make and hold the following opinions with a **reasonable degree of medical probability**:

- a. That the September 26, 2004 rear-end collision involving Mr. Archer as a passenger in a vehicle without a seat head restraint was one of the probable medical causes of the injuries I diagnosed and treated, including contusion to his spinal cord, radicular pain radiating from his neck into his right shoulder along the C5 nerve root distribution, right arm weakness, and changes in spinal reflexes;
- b. It is medically probable that Mr. Archer would not have suffered these injuries from the rear end collision if he had a seat head restraint at the time of the collision; and
- c. It is pure speculation that Mr. Archer would have suffered these injuries even if he had a seat head restraint at the time of the subject rear end collision.

R. 1492 and 1539-1540.

38. Dr. Huntsman testified that the accident caused a contusion to Archer's spinal cord, resulting in a permanent, hollow spot inside the cord. *R. 1492.*

39. Dr. Huntsman further testified that head restraints “prevent flexion/extension-type injury by avoiding excessive extension” and that the “neck doesn’t excessively extend because there is something there to protect it. *Id.*

40. Dr. Huntsman stated that the “fact that [Archer] was then involved in this motor vehicle accident in which his head and neck were not restrained did likely cause the myelopathy and likely caused the subsequent need for surgical intervention.” *Id.*

41. Biomedical expert, Dr. France, stated that a head restraint “would have likely reduced Mr. Archer’s maximum posterior neck motion to be within a range of 15-20 degrees extension of the neck.” *R. 1493 and 1548.*

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