2009

John D. Archer v. April Gauntly, Brown's Crew Car of Wyoming, Inc., Armadillo Express, Union Pacific Railroad Company : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court entered summary judgment in Defendants' favor on all grounds raised in their motion. *R. at 1633, p. 30.* Specifically, the Court correctly concluded, based upon the undisputed facts, that: 1) Defendants did not owe a duty of care to Plaintiff to provide transportation equipped with head restraints pursuant to their duty to

provide Plaintiff with a reasonably safe place to work; 2) that Plaintiff's claims are barred by the doctrine of conflict preemption; and 3) that Plaintiff is unable to prove that the absence of a rear-seat head restraint caused or contributed to Plaintiff's injuries. *R. at 1605-09, 1633.*

Plaintiff has identified as points of error the District Court's order for summary judgment on the element of duty, the application of the doctrine of conflict preemption, and its evidentiary ruling that Plaintiff's medical doctors are not qualified to render opinions as to whether the absence of a rear-seat head restraint caused or contributed to Plaintiff's injuries. App. Br. 8-10. Plaintiff has not, however, articulated any point of error by the District Court's order for summary judgment on the issues of foreseeability or causation, nor has he asserted that the District Court erred in its evidentiary ruling excluding the affidavits submitted by Plaintiff and his experts, Drs. Gordon, Huntsman, or France. Accordingly, he has waived his right to do so, and this Court should not consider these rulings on appeal.

Even if this Court reverses the District Court on all points of error identified by Plaintiff, summary judgment on the elements of foreseeability and causation stand, and Plaintiff will not be entitled to a trial on his claims against Defendants.

In the event the Court does not dismiss Plaintiff's appeal, it should affirm the rulings of the District Court, because they were not erroneous.

Specifically, the District Court's evidentiary ruling that Plaintiff's medical doctors are not qualified to render opinions as to whether the absence of a rear-seat head restraint caused or contributed to Plaintiff's injuries was reasonable based upon the doctors' lack

of experience, knowledge or training in head restraints and biomechanics, and the fact that Plaintiff's own biomechanical expert, who possesses the necessary qualifications to render such opinions, is unable to opine to any degree of probability that a head restraint would have prevented Plaintiff's injuries.

The District Court's order for summary judgment on the issue of duty was proper and must be affirmed. The District Court's order for summary judgment was correct because the undisputed facts demonstrate that: 1) Defendants had no knowledge that the absence of a rear-seat head restraint was an unsafe or hazardous condition; 2) there is no evidence that other similarly situated railroads and transport companies specifically provide transportation to railroad employees that are equipped with rear-seat head restraints; and 3) consumers such as Defendants should not be required to provide rear-seat head restraints in vehicles used to transport its employees where NHSTA does not mandate automobile manufacturers to install rear-seat head restraints in their vehicles.

Finally, the District Court correctly concluded that the doctrine of conflict preemption bars Plaintiff's claims against Defendants because the NHSTA specifically considered a proposal to require automobile manufacturers to install rear-seat head restraints and expressly rejected such an amendment, and the action of a state court imposing a duty upon Defendants as consumers of such automobiles to provide rear-seat head restraints in their vehicles would conflict with the objectives and purpose of FMVSS No. 202 established by the NHSTA.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. PLAINTIFF’S APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED AS MOOT BECAUSE HE HAS NOT APPEALED THE DISTRICT COURT’S ORDER FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON TWO ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF HIS CLAIM AND WOULD NOT BE ENTITLED TO A TRIAL ON HIS CLAIMS EVEN IF THIS COURT REVERSES THE DISTRICT COURT ON ALL OF THE ISSUES RAISED BY PLAINTIFF.

1. Plaintiff has waived his right to appeal any alleged errors by the District Court granting summary judgment in Defendants’ favor on the elements of foreseeability and causation, and its evidentiary ruling excluding the affidavits submitted by Plaintiff and his experts.

Plaintiff has appealed the District Court’s order for summary judgment on the element of duty, the application of the doctrine of conflict preemption and the Court’s evidentiary ruling that Plaintiff’s medical experts are not qualified to render opinions on the element of causation. App. Br. at 8-10. The Plaintiff has not, however, appealed the Court’s summary judgment order on the elements of foreseeability or causation, nor has Plaintiff appealed the Court’s evidentiary ruling excluding the affidavits submitted by Plaintiff and his experts, Drs. Gordon, Huntsman and France.

To properly raise an issue on appeal, the appellant must specifically identify the points of error of the lower court, and must provide argument, analysis and case law in his brief explaining the basis for the purported error. *See Maack v. Resource Design and Constr., Inc.*, 875 P.2d 570, 575 (Utah App. 1994). An appellate court will not consider issues raised for the first time in the appellant’s reply brief. *State v. Phathamavong*, 860 P.2d 1001, 1004 (Utah App. 1993). By failing to specify or identify the District Court’s order for summary judgment on the elements of foreseeability and causation, and the evidentiary ruling excluding the affidavits submitted by Plaintiff as points of error in

his brief, Plaintiff has waived his right to do so. *State v. Reyes*, 2002 UT 13, ¶ 2, 40 P.3d 630, 631; *Anderson v. Wright*, 273 P.2d 418, 419 (Utah 1954).

In their motion for summary judgment, Defendants presented numerous undisputed facts to support their argument that Plaintiff's evidence was insufficient to prove the elements of foreseeability and causation. *R. at 589-93*. In opposition thereto, Plaintiff submitted his affidavit, as well as affidavits from Drs. Gordon, Huntsman and France. *R. at 1276-80, 1398-1400, 1382-84, 1342-46*. In their reply brief, Defendants moved to strike Plaintiff's affidavits on the grounds that they were "sham affidavits" because they contained statements inconsistent with their deposition testimony, and on the grounds that they contained new opinions that the experts were not qualified to render and which were not timely disclosed, and contained statements that were inadmissible at trial. *R. at 1451-61*. The Court agreed with Defendants' arguments and struck the affidavits and did not consider them. *R. at 1633, at p. 29-30*. Nevertheless, Plaintiff relies upon and cites to statements contained in those affidavits in his brief, which were not considered by the Court, failing even to acknowledge the Court's ruling striking the affidavits on the numerous grounds asserted by Defendants.¹

¹ Plaintiff disingenuously cites to the pages in his opposition brief in support of these "Relevant Facts" as opposed to the evidentiary source of the statements, which are in whole or in part the affidavits submitted by Plaintiff and his experts. Specifically, the following "Relevant Facts" contained in Plaintiff's brief are taken entirely from the affidavits that the Court struck: 21, 26-8, 34-5, 37, 41-2, and 46. In addition, Plaintiff's "Relevant Fact" numbers 29-33 are based in part upon the affidavits that were struck by the Court. App. Br. at 17-20.

Even if this Court finds that the District Court abused its discretion in relation to its ruling on the qualifications of Plaintiff's experts, the affidavits of Plaintiff and Drs. Gordon, Huntsman and France were ruled inadmissible based upon the numerous grounds asserted by Defendants, and Plaintiff has not appealed that ruling by the Court. Inadmissible evidence cannot be considered by the Court in ruling on a motion for summary judgment. Utah R. Civ. P. 56(e) (2009); *Sandy City v. Salt Lake County*, 794 P.2d 482, 487 (Utah App. 1990), *rev'd in part on other grounds*, 827 P.2d 212 (Utah 1992).

The Plaintiff also has not appealed the Court's order for summary judgment on the elements of foreseeability and causation. App. Br. 8-9. Although it is anticipated that Plaintiff will argue that these orders are encompassed within his appeal, the points of error identified in Plaintiff's brief clearly fail even to reference such orders. Nor does Plaintiff provide any analysis as to such alleged erroneous orders.

Thus, even if this Court finds that the District Court abused its discretion in making its evidentiary ruling pertaining to the qualifications of Plaintiff's experts, such a finding will not affect the Court's order for summary judgment on the elements of foreseeability and causation.

2. The Court's order for summary judgment on the element of causation was correct based upon the material, undisputed admissible facts before it.

Defendants moved for summary judgment on the grounds that Plaintiff has insufficient evidence to prove the element of causation at trial. *R. at 604-08*. Specifically, Defendants argued that Plaintiff could not prove that the absence of a rear-

seat head restraint caused or contributed to his injuries, and that in order for the jury to find causation, it would be required to speculate as to the existence of a number of facts that have no evidentiary support. *Id.*

In support of their motion, Defendants presented undisputed admissible evidence including the report and deposition testimony of Dr. Paul France (Plaintiff's biomechanical expert) and Dr. Blake Ashby (Defendants' biomechanical expert), as well as deposition testimony of Plaintiff. *R. at 658-86, 646-57, 814-32, 808-12, 624-44.* Defendants also presented a 2004 report issued by the NHSTA pertaining to a proposed amendment to FMVSS No. 202 to require automobile manufacturers to install rear-seat head restraints. *R. at 700-804.*

The undisputed evidence demonstrates that Plaintiff's biomechanical expert, Dr. France, could not opine with any degree of probability that the absence of a rear-seat head restraint caused or contributed to Plaintiff's injury. *R. at 605-08.* At best, Dr. France opined that had UP provided transportation *equipped with a bucket seat design and rear-seat head restraints*, that "such changes would have *reduced the likelihood* for the impingement type shoulder injury and aggravation of Mr. Archer's cervical condition by significantly reducing neck motion and loading on the shoulder." *R. at 665* (emphasis added). Plaintiff has not alleged in his Amended Complaint that Defendants failed to provide him with a reasonably safe place to work by not providing him with transportation equipped with bucket seats. Rather, his claim is premised upon the alleged failure to provide him with a vehicle equipped with rear-seat head restraints. *R. at 110-11, 113-114.*

Further, Dr. France testified that there were *adjustable* rear-seat head restraints available as an option for the make and model of van involved in the accident, but that he was unable to locate or inspect such a head restraint. *R. at 652-54, 656.* Dr. France conceded that the effectiveness of an adjustable head restraint would depend upon the height of the occupant and the adjustment of the restraint at the time of impact. *R. at 655.* The NHSTA found that the manufacturing height requirements for head restraints in existence prior to and at the time of the subject accident were insufficient to prevent injury. Specifically, the 2004 NHSTA report states:

[T]he persistence of whiplash injuries in the current fleet of vehicles indicates that *the existing height requirement is not sufficient to prevent excessive movement of the head and neck relative to the torso for some people. Specifically, the head restraints do not effectively limit rearward movement of the head of a person at least as tall as the average occupant.*

R. at 706 (emphasis added and quoting 69 F.R. 74848).

Dr. France further conceded that the effectiveness of a head restraint can be affected by the position of the occupant at the time of the impact, and that he was unaware of any crash studies that discuss the effectiveness of any rear-seat head restraint where the passenger is seated in a turned manner similar to Plaintiff's position at the time of impact. *R. at 655, 649-50.* Dr. France was *unable* to opine that had the rear-seat head restraint system available for van been installed, it is *probable* that, despite his turned position at the time of impact, Plaintiff would not have suffered the same injuries. *R. at 665, 1343.*

For a jury to find for Plaintiff on the issue of causation, it must find that the acts or failure to act by Defendants "produced harm or set in motion events that produced the

harm in a natural and continuous sequence.” MUJI 1st Civ. 209. In order to make such a finding, a jury would be required to speculate as to the existence of numerous facts that have no evidentiary support, including: 1) the adjustable head restraint, as manufactured, would have been effective to prevent Plaintiff’s injury; 2) Plaintiff would have properly adjusted the head restraint; and 3) the head restraint would have been effective to prevent Plaintiff’s injuries in light of his turned body and neck position at the time of impact. Where a plaintiff cannot show, without speculation by a jury, that the injury was caused by the alleged breach of a duty, summary judgment on the issue of causation is appropriate. *Triesault v. Greater Salt Lake Bus. Dist.*, 2005 UT App 489, ¶ 14, 126 P.3d 781, 785 (citing *Thurston v. Workers Comp. Fund*, 2003 UT App 438, ¶¶ 12-16, 83 P.3d 391, 395).

These unknown factual variables make it impossible for Dr. France to opine to any degree of probability that Plaintiff would not have suffered his injuries had there been a rear-seat head restraint had been installed in the van. If Plaintiff’s biomechanical engineer cannot render such an opinion, the Plaintiff cannot meet his burden of proof on the element of causation.

As discussed above, the affidavits of Drs. France, Gordon and Huntsman submitted by Plaintiff in opposition to Defendants’ motion were struck by the Court for numerous reasons and were not considered by the Court. Thus, the only admissible evidence before the Court to prove the element of causation were the expert reports and deposition testimony of his medical doctors. The Court ruled, however, that Plaintiff’s

medical doctors were not qualified to render opinions as to whether the absence of a rear-seat head restraint caused or contributed to Plaintiff's injuries. *R. at 1633, at p. 29-30.*

Even if this Court finds that the District Court abused its discretion in its ruling on the qualifications of Plaintiff's experts, the evidence contained in the experts' respective reports and deposition testimony establishes, at best, that it was *possible* a rear-seat head restraint would have prevented Plaintiff's injuries. *R. at 835-36, 838-39, 841-42, 845-46, 847-48, 851-55, 1181-86.* The only opinions rendered to a degree of "medical probability" were contained in the affidavits of Drs. Gordon and Huntsman, which were excluded by the Court for numerous reasons, and such ruling has not been appealed. *R. at 1633, pp. 29-30.*

The only admissible evidence to be considered by this Court are the opinions rendered by Plaintiff's medical doctors set forth in their reports and testimony, which are stated in terms of possibilities, not medical probabilities. Plaintiff concedes that the standard for medical causation testimony is "to a reasonable degree of medical probability." App. Br. at p. 45. Accordingly, the admissible evidence provided by Plaintiff's medical doctor experts fails to meet the necessary standard for medical causation testimony, and is insufficient to establish causation as a matter of law. Thus, Plaintiff cannot prove the essential element of causation, and is not entitled to a trial on his claims.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY RULING THAT PLAINTIFF'S MEDICAL DOCTORS ARE NOT QUALIFIED AS EXPERTS TO PROVIDE OPINIONS AS TO WHETHER THE ABSENCE OF A REAR-SEAT HEAD RESTRAINT CAUSED OR CONTRIBUTED TO PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES.

1. The Court's ruling on the qualifications of Plaintiff's experts is an evidentiary ruling, which this Court reviews for an abuse of discretion.

Plaintiff incorrectly states that the standard of review of the Court's evidentiary rulings, excluding his medical experts from rendering opinions due to the lack of qualifications is that of correctness. App. Br. at pp. 9-10. As set forth in Plaintiff's argument, the decision by a court of whether an expert is qualified to render opinions on particular matters is determined pursuant to Rule 702 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. App. Br. at 44. Thus, the District Court's ruling as to Plaintiff's medical experts' qualifications to render opinions as to causation is an evidentiary ruling which must be reviewed by this Court applying the abuse of discretion standard of review.

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